SUPPORTING THE INDUSTRIAL TRANSFORMATION: A SMART RETROFIT ARCHITECTURE AND A LEARNING PLATFORM FOR INDUSTRY 4.0

by

TOMÁS ARTURO LETELIER ZAMORA

(Under the Direction of Jaime Camelio)

ABSTRACT

With the rise of Industry 4.0, it is critical to manufacturers from all different sectors to begin integrating the new paradigms that come with it. However, SMEs are at a high risk of falling behind due to the complexity and economic barriers that are involved in this process. As a potential approach, Smart Retrofitting has gained traction as a way of transforming available equipment into I4.0 enabled machines, and researchers have throughout the literature proposed various frameworks that seek to reduce the existing knowledge gap; however, the focus has been heavily towards retrofit for sensing capabilities, leaving smart control unexplored. This work addresses this gap by expanding on the literature and presenting a more comprehensive architecture that takes into account the complete potential of smart retrofit. Additionally, a learning platform is developed which intends to bring awareness of the potential of I4.0 technology to both manufacturers and students.

INDEX WORDS: Internet of Things, Smart Retrofit, Legacy Equipment, Industry 4.0, Smart Manufacturing

SUPPORTING THE INDUSTRIAL TRANSFORMATION: A SMART RETROFIT METHODOLOGY AND A LEARNING PLATFORM FOR INDUSTRY 4.0

by

TOMÁS ARTURO LETELIER ZAMORA

B.S., Universidad de Chile, Chile, 2022

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2024

© 2024

Tomás Arturo Letelier Zamora

All Rights Reserved

SUPPORTING THE INDUSTRIAL TRANSFORMATION: A SMART RETROFIT METHODOLOGY AND A LEARNING PLATFORM FOR INDUSTRY 4.0

by

TOMÁS ARTURO LETELIER ZAMORA

Major Professor: Committee: Jaime Camelio Beshoy Morkos Kyle Johnsen Hongyue Sun

Electronic Version Approved:

Ron Walcott Vice Provost for Graduate Education and Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia December 2024

DEDICATION

I want to dedicate this thesis to my family who has supported me throughout my entire life, my friends for always supporting me (yes, especially you, Jose) and, more than anything else, I want to dedicate this work to my amazing wife Carolina Araya who has been, in her infinite patience, nothing but helpful, supportive and an incredible life partner, which whom without her I would probably not have achieved this degree.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge all my lab colleagues at UGA's Innovation Factory, with whom we have designed, developed and created incredible things, including but not limited to our work on the GA-AIM project. I want to acknowledge particularly Hunter Halloran who besides being the go-to engineer for all tech related knowledge in this laboratory, is the one who performed the retrofit in the use case example used in this thesis. I want to thank Jaime Camelio for giving me the huge opportunity to study at UGA, as well my committee for their incredible patience.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Page |
|-----------------------------------|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv |
| LIST OF TABLES |
| LIST OF FIGURES ix |
| CHAPTER |
| 1 INTRODUCTION |
| Motivation1 |
| Definition of the problem2 |
| Research objectives |
| Organization of this thesis4 |
| 2 LITERATURE REVIEW |
| Industry 4.06 |
| Smart retrofitting |
| State of the art on retrofitting9 |
| Control in smart retrofitting |
| Gaps in the literature |
| 3 SMART RETROFIT ARCHITECTURE |
| System architecture |
| Sensing modules |
| Control modules |

| | Use case example | |
|---------|---|----|
| | Summary | 45 |
| 4 | INDUSTRY 4.0 LEARNING PLATFORM | 47 |
| | The GA-AIM project | 47 |
| | The first iteration of the Vignette | |
| | The second iteration of the Vignette | |
| 5 | CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK | 63 |
| | Smart retrofit architecture with a comprehensive taxonomy | 63 |
| | Industry 4.0 learning platform | 65 |
| | Future work | 66 |
| BIBLIOG | RAPHY | 68 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1: Smart retrofit frameworks and applications found in the literature1 | 19 |
|--|----|
|--|----|

LIST OF FIGURES

| Page |
|--|
| Figure 1: Reference Architecture Model for Industrie 4.0 (RAMI4.0)10 |
| Figure 2: Complete system architecture |
| Figure 3: General overview of sensing modules based on their relative position to the original |
| machine |
| Figure 4: Functional requirements of each sensing module27 |
| Figure 5: General overview of Control Modules based on their relative position to the original |
| machine |
| Figure 6: Functional requirements of each control module |
| Figure 7: ME-JC-24 high speed cracker, also known as the "JC cracker". Source: [1]37 |
| Figure 8: Home Assistant's user interface through local touch screen |
| Figure 9: Main motor controller (green) and both RS485 adapters introduced (red) |
| Figure 10: Servomotor introduced to control the funnel's lower opening, highlighted in red40 |
| Figure 11: Digital scale added to aid in the machine's process42 |
| Figure 12: No-contact moisture sensor |
| Figure 13: Stepper motors introduced as replacement from the hand cranks, highlighted in red .44 |
| Figure 14: Overview of the retrofitted example use case45 |
| Figure 15: ZimaBoard single board server. Source: [2] |
| Figure 16: Summary of Vignette's introduced modules |

| Figure 17: Circuit box holding the ESP32 and Arduino OPTA, with the mmWave sensor | fixated |
|--|---------|
| at the top left | 54 |
| Figure 18: Load cells with custom 3D printed fixtures | 55 |
| Figure 19: Node-RED access through the side-mounted tablet | 56 |
| Figure 20: Plastic bins used as the main example and their calibration dashboard | 57 |
| Figure 21: Completed first version of the IoT Vignette | |
| Figure 22: "Gamified" dashboard | 60 |
| Figure 23: Final iteration of the IoT Vignette, located inside the GA-AIM mobile studio. | 61 |

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Motivation

The Digital Transformation has been a rising topic in manufacturing, as the advances in Industry 4.0 (I4.0) and the value of these technologies keep on advancing over time. Through these, organizations will be able to achieve levels of optimization that was previously not possible, thanks to the immense amount of information that will now be possible to not just collect, but fully utilize through I4.0 technologies [3]. This incoming industrial revolution does not come only with benefits, however, as it also comes with the risks of falling behind should manufacturers fail to integrate it. Companies that ignore what Industry 4.0 entails and do not make an effort to incorporate these new technologies and exploit the value that comes with them risk not just being outperformed by competition, but entirely falling out of relevancy in the industry [3]. It is no surprise that I4.0 has caught the attention of organizations both large and small. However, adjusting to this large paradigm shift is not a trivial matter. While larger companies may have an easier time integrating themselves into the Industry 4.0 environment due to larger investment power as well as capable personnel, it's a different situation for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). For them, the adoption of I4.0 comes with economic requirements that may not be possible or not considered worth it for their comparatively smaller scale context [4], especially as this adoption requires the inclusion of I4.0-capable equipment which may not be already present on their respective facilities. There is also a large knowledge gap introduced by the complexity of these technologies, and their rapid advancement has only been making this gap even larger [5]. SMEs may not possess capable engineers to integrate advanced systems like Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) or Digital twins, and the requirement of these experts only further increases the cost of I4.0 adoption.

Definition of the problem

To aid in the introduction of Industry 4.0, the idea of smart retrofitting has been gaining popularity as it presents a new alternative to manufacturers on how to integrate their processes into the I4.0 space. The core idea of retrofitting revolves around reutilizing already existing machines and systems, as opposed to replacing them with more capable equipment, and seeks to achieve this through the addition of smart components that would enable these legacy machines to function along these new I4.0 technologies like IIoT. Essentially, instead of replacing old equipment, it is upgraded and brought up to a level that enables them to be integrated into an I4.0 system by introducing smart monitoring and control capabilities. The process of retrofitting does come with its own challenges and technical knowledge barriers, which makes the entry for SMEs to an I4.0 environment much harder. As such, researchers have proposed numerous Frameworks, Methodologies, Architectures and presented various use case examples to facilitate the understanding of the retrofitting process, its requirements and its potential value and capabilities. Due to the novelty of retrofitting, however, a large part of the coverage by literature is focused only on adding smart sensing capabilities while smart control, which inherently requires sensing to function, has been less explored.

Another issue that some SMEs may be facing is that, while they may be aware of the potential of I4.0, they may not be able to consider applications to their own scale viable, thus giving them the wrong idea that I4.0 may only be reasonable to apply on larger systems. In some

cases, some SMEs may only have a rough idea of what concepts like IIoT, Digital Twins and other I4.0 technologies mean, but may not possess a full image or what these actually involve and the value they bring. There is also the misconception that these technologies require extensive teams of experts to begin grasping an idea of how to introduce to the present systems which, while this notion may have been correct on the infancy of these technologies, is nowadays an outdated understanding of the requirements of I4.0, as the advances of technology and commercially available tools have made the introduction of these systems much easier than one may initially perceive. In a similar manner, due to most of these concepts and knowledge being somewhat recent, students may not be fully aware of the knowledge that is being desired in future engineers, as well as the general existence of this upcoming industrial revolution and its importance on manufacturers.

Research objectives

As an attempt to alleviate the previously mentioned problems, this thesis presents two research objectives:

1) To address the existing knowledge gap in retrofitting frameworks, this thesis will dive deeper into the literature to fully understand this gap and help mitigate it by proposing an architecture that encompasses the addition of both sensing and control through retrofitting, focused towards helping manufacturers perform their first steps into a smart system through a low complexity implementation. To contribute further aid, a deeper differentiation will be made between the types of sensing and control components that can be added through retrofitting, which directly depends on the already existing capabilities of the equipment to be retrofitted. While this has been mentioned previously in the

literature, it has been done so more on a surface level. For this differentiation, a taxonomy will be proposed that explains the functional requirements of each type of sensing and control components, or modules as denominated in said taxonomy, as well as in which case each is used. Through this taxonomy, a clearer idea will be presented on the functional additions that must be performed based on the existing capabilities of the legacy machine to be retrofitted.

2) To further address the knowledge gap and misconceptions of I4.0 from SMEs and students, a physical learning platform will be created using the proposed retrofitting architecture, which will expose both manufacturers and students to the different aspects and technologies of Industry 4.0, while also demonstrating the implementation of the architecture. This platform aims to diminish this false perception of extreme complexity and cost of Industry 4.0 technologies from manufacturers, as well as bringing awareness to the skills and capabilities that these require as a potential career option for future engineers.

Organization of this thesis

The organization of this thesis is as follows. Chapter 2 will begin with a formal definition of Industry 4.0, followed by a review of the literature regarding smart retrofitting, covering the current state of the art of retrofitting frameworks, methodologies, architectures and applications. It will categorize the found literature and through a discussion of it present a gap in current architectures. Chapter 3 will propose a Smart Retrofit architecture that expands on the literature previously presented, which has the intention of filling the mentioned gap through a more comprehensive definition. Separately, Chapter 4 will then shift to the Industry 4.0 learning platform developed as part of this thesis. It will detail the design process of the physical demonstration, as well as mention the changes and the reasoning behind them between iterations of it. Finally, Chapter 5 will conclude this thesis, going over the contributions of the presented work, as well as proposing future works to be carried out.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

One of the goals of this thesis is to provide a valuable contribution to the literature of smart retrofitting, with the intention of aiding SMEs in their process of introducing themselves into Industry 4.0. As such, a review of the literature regarding retrofitting, Internet of Things (IoT) in manufacturing and Industry 4.0 was performed, in order to identify a knowledge gap. Before diving into this review, it is important to properly understand the context and concepts that are the foundation of the entire idea of smart retrofitting, and so this chapter will begin by formally defining the concept and the importance of Industry 4.0, as well as some challenges present when adopting this new paradigm. With this clear baseline, this chapter will then go into explaining what smart retrofit is before presenting a review and compilation of its literature, finalizing with an analysis of this in order to identify a knowledge gap in the state-of-the-art.

Industry 4.0

The concept of "Industry 4.0" (I4.0) was initially introduced in Germany in 2011 by Kagermann et al. [6], a term that has been since then used to describe the upcoming 4th industrial revolution. There are a few definitions about the idea of Industry 4.0 in the literature, however all of them remain somewhat similar. Overall, Industry 4.0 is referred to the next step in manufacturing evolution, driven by Data science and fully interconnected systems. It encompasses the advanced development and application of Cyber-Physical systems technologies, such as advanced data acquisition and control, Internet of Things, Cloud computing, Artificial intelligence

and Augmented and Virtual reality applications [3][5][7][8]. Through the implementation of new technologies and communication protocols, the exponential growth of data acquisition enables the extraction of information and insights never before achievable. Data-intensive applications, such as any type of Artificial Intelligence, are now able to be developed and applied faster, while also being more accurate and capable than before, allowing the integration of these technologies into even more sectors of manufacturing. On top of that, the higher interconnectivity of different systems opens the possibilities for higher degrees of automation and the generation of smart factories, through the use of advanced simulation and Digital Twin technologies.

It suffices to say that adopting Industry 4.0 technologies and capabilities is a necessity for the manufacturing sector. Not adopting these is not simply a matter of missing out on better performance all around, but also a matter of remaining relevant to the industry altogether. Organizations that fail to adopt Industry 4.0 risk being replaced not just by competitors, but also by entire sectors [3]. Adopting these new technologies and paradigms is, however, not a trivial matter. If Industry 4.0 enabled equipment is not already in possession, it may be too complex to reshape and reconstruct the entire manufacturing process already in place, either because an entire process or even an entire facility revolves around a single piece of equipment or simply because the expenses for such an upgrade are way beyond the capabilities of the manufacturer, as it is especially the case for a large amount of SMEs [9]. In some cases, there may not even exist "better equipment" for more niche specialized equipment. Among the potential solutions to this problem, one in particular that has been gaining more popularity in the manufacturing sector is smart retrofitting, which allows manufacturers to join the Industry 4.0 space without having to entirely reshape their entire businesses.

Smart retrofitting

Smart retrofitting (also referred to as IoT retrofitting or digital retrofitting) refers to the process of taking a device or machinery that does not possess IoT capabilities and applying modifications or additions to it that would enable it to be integrated into a Cyber-Physical system. These modifications expand the original capabilities of the machine by adding remote connectivity and communication functionality, thus improving on the data acquisition and control of the machine [10][11]. Smart retrofitting exists as the alternative for manufacturers to bring existing equipment or legacy machines into an Industry 4.0 standard, without the need for high capital investment that would come with the replacement of a more state-of-the-art version, if there even is one. This approach is also more financially and environmentally sustainable thanks to the reuse of old machinery and the increase of efficiency that comes with the retrofitting, as well as bringing more social sustainability as operators are provided with more information and control over their equipment, thus enhancing their safety and decision-making [11]. Retrofitting is more commonly performed on legacy or older equipment that does not already possess IoT or digital capabilities, however it can also be applied to more state-of-the-art equipment, especially if these can't already have the collect some specific type of data, or if the communication protocols compatible with the equipment are different from the ones in use on the current IoT system [10][11]. It's also worth mentioning that, while it's more common to think of the owners of the machinery as the ones applying smart retrofitting to their equipment, retrofit has also been proposed as a service from the Original Equipment Manufacturers as a new market opportunity [12].

While retrofitting is a very promising direction to take, especially for SMEs as a method of integrating themselves into what Industry 4.0 entails, it remains a complex process. To successfully retrofit legacy or new equipment, a high degree of technical expertise is required both

in terms of hardware and software knowledge [13]. This then comes as yet another roadblock, as knowledge of communication protocols, electronics, mechanical engineering, programming, available sensors, controllers and their required hardware may not come easy especially for SMEs, which are unlikely to have enough capable personnel. With the purpose of aiding manufacturers in the application of retrofitting technologies, many use case examples and frameworks have been proposed in the literature.

State of the art on retrofitting

In order to design a Smart Retrofit Framework that represents a contribution to the literature, a review of the state of the art in smart retrofitting literature is performed to understand what is currently presented, what works and what is missing. Before diving into existing Smart Retrofit Frameworks and Methodologies, it is worth first mentioning the Reference Architecture Model Industrie 4.0 (RAMI 4.0) [14], which could be considered the current base standard when referring to most I4.0 models. The architecture, shown in Figure 1, is separated into 3 different axes. The Hierarchy axis, which expands from the IEC 62264 standard, presents the different layers in a system, from the product itself all the way to the Enterprise and the connected world, and emphasizes a complete interconnection across all levels, where normally in previous architectures each would only be interacting with their "neighboring" level. The Life cycle and value stream axis expands on the IEC 62890 standard and is used to represent an element on the different states of its lifecycle. Finally, the Layer axis is used to position different aspects of an element, from the actual physical and tangible Asset, to the Communication protocols and data transmission involved in it, all the way to the business processes associated. RAMI4.0 presents the

fundamental structure of Industry 4.0 and intents to help visualize it, by enabling the mapping of different components and processes from different levels and lifecycle states of a manufacturing system, which in turn helps identifying gaps and opportunities.

RAMI4.0 also introduces the concept of the Asset Administration Shell (AAS). An AAS corresponds to the virtualization of a physical non-I4.0 compliant device, which it brings into an I4.0 enabled space through the connection, capture and control of this asset. Through its AAS, the device is capable of communication with other devices' AAS and I4.0 components, while still maintaining its core functionality.

While these frameworks serve as a good foundation of the architecture of an IoT system, they remain somewhat vague in the procedure to implement them, as well as in the components required to do so. For this reason, many researchers have developed various Frameworks that would help manufacturers through the process of retrofitting.



Figure 1: Reference Architecture Model for Industrie 4.0 (RAMI4.0). Source: [14]

To understand the state of the art of Retrofitting frameworks and methodologies, a search of the literature is performed in platforms such as Google Scholar and IEEE with various combinations of the keywords "IoT", "Retrofit", "Retrofitting", "manufacturing" and "Industry". Between the relevant papers compiled, a few Literature Reviews were also found, out of which Alqoud et al.'s [8] was of particular interest as it performed a review related to smart retrofit on legacy equipment, where it aims to filter and compile papers that specifically enter into the detail of smart retrofitting either in terms of application or theory, which align with the interests of this thesis. After compiling relevant literature alongside the one found in Alqoud et al.'s work [8], a total of 55 papers were gathered that contribute to the smart retrofit framework literature.

In terms of what can be found in the literature of smart retrofitting frameworks, a trend was noticed where most papers would present one or more of three common topics: Methodologies, Architectures and Use cases. Methodologies refer to a step-by-step guide on the process of retrofitting, including steps such as requirement analysis, economic considerations and post-retrofit validations. Architectures on the other hand provide an abstract representation of the retrofit structure, giving an idea of the different elements, components and requirements that would be involved in the retrofit process or a retrofitted system, and proposing the abstracted structure they would have, as well as their interactions with each other. For this review a difference is also made between Architectures and Use cases. Where the former presents a generalized way of defining the structure of a retrofitted system, an Use case explains one well defined solution with specific technologies, or the application or implementation of a previously presented Methodology or Architecture presented as a case study.

A different combination of these three topics is found in the literature. To show a few examples, Tantscher et. al. [10] presents a step-by-step guide on how to design, develop, integrate

and later verify and validate an IoT system (Methodology), followed by presenting an example of the application of this methodology (Use Case). Hawkridge et al. [15] proposes a low-cost IoT Architecture, in which they separate it in Data Collection, Data Management and Storage, Analysis and User Interface blocks, while also describing the general contents of each block and, alongside a questionnaire and guide to implementing this proposed blueprint (*Methodology*). They finish off with a case study in which they implement the proposed Methodology and Architecture through the retrofitting of a 3D printing system (Use Case). Some papers also focus entirely on a specific application or Use Case, as is the case of Jónasdóttir et al. [16], where they showcase a noninvasive form of retrofit through the development and use of an external device, which latches on to the controls of a CNC machine that an operator would use, and controls it through actuation that mimics button presses, as well as being able to monitor specific parameters of the machine. Lima et al. [17] too focuses only on a specific solution, showing an example of retrofitting a 20 year old CNC machine for the purpose of maintenance, where with the help of an energy sensor along with an IoT gateway they are able to send energy readings into an IoT Cloud platform where it can be further monitored, as well as used in a Genetic Algorithm and a Neural Network to predict power consumption.

In order to further organize the found literature Table 1 is created, which compiles the found literature indicating whether each paper includes either of the three described topics. The distinction is also made between papers that only consider retrofitting for the purposes of incorporating new sensing capabilities or if they also take into consideration the possibility of remote or automated control that can be gained with the retrofit. The reason a third category of "Only control" is not present is due to the fact that control inherently implies sensing, as in order to control a particular parameter it is necessary to know its value in the first place. The purpose of

this categorization is to better visualize how much each of the three common topics are covered in the current literature. With the separation of "sensing only" and "sensing and control" it is also possible how as well as how many of the proposed frameworks and use cases actually cover the whole spectrum of retrofitting, or if they focus only on sensing and monitoring. Thus Table 1 was constructed with the aim of aiding the search of a gap for this thesis.

Control in smart retrofitting

As mentioned before, most if not all remote control capabilities are directly dependent on the ability to measure, as it is necessary to know the parameter to be controlled before being able to control it, lest one blindly operate the respective device or equipment. It is of no surprise then that most of the present literature regarding retrofit frameworks and applications focuses only on the addition of sensing capabilities. Just the addition of monitoring of a single new parameter can produce an immense value through the new insights and information it can produce, be it for the purpose of predictive maintenance, process improvement through historical data analytics, or simple remote monitoring.

Because of this, however, there is a noticeable lack of coverage of smart control. Only focusing on sensing leaves out half of potential of smart retrofitting not fully explored. This is not to say that Methodologies that only mention sensing and monitoring are incomplete, as most of them are thorough enough to be used for a control environment as they are or with very minor additions. It is however the Architectures that suffer more of this lesser coverage, as while they are complete in the scope of sensing, may not represent the complete capabilities of Retrofitting.

Out of the 55 papers found and presented in Table 1, only 14 mention or utilize retrofitting as means of remote smart control, where 3 papers present a Methodology (Pueo et al. [18], García

et al. [19] and Carlo et al. [20]), 2 papers present an Architecture (Etz et al. [21] and Dietrich et al. [22]) and 2 papers present both (Lins et al. [23] and [24]). Out of these 16 only 3 do not include a Use Case, Lins et al. [23] being one of these, as it only proposes a design methodology and applies it through a theoretical architecture but does not bring it into realization. The design methodology they propose focuses on mapping and defining Customer Needs and building the design constraints and requirements around these. While this methodology is specifically aimed at the retrofit of CNC machines, it should be able to be adapted outside of these. Their architecture, however, is more a result of theoretically applying their methodology rather than something that can be utilized in other systems. On the opposite side, Etz et al. [21] proposes a more generalized architecture to retrofit legacy robots into an OPC UA enabled space. It however falls short as the proposed architecture is too generic and focuses too much on the structure of the information transmitted instead of how to enable this data collection and control, or assumes the retrofitted device already comes with network interface to do this connection. Dietrich et al. [22] focuses more on the software side of smart retrofitting, proposing a control software architecture that deviates from the usual multi-layer architecture used to define software systems in favor of an hexagonal structure that properly captures how interaction with the system from different sides (users, programs, automated tests, etc.) all affect the application equally. This paper's architecture does not touch however on the physical side of smart retrofitting, and instead use Lins et al.'s [24] work as a reference to build their use case. Finally, Lins et al. [24] proposes a retrofit methodology that takes into consideration both the technologies and functions that are desired to be added to the machine and the ones it already has, making emphasis on integrating what the original equipment is already providing in terms of infrastructure, communication and applications. Using RAMI4.0 as a baseline, it defines a general retrofit architecture, with which it then proposes a machine independent retrofit platform, validating it through a case study implementation.

Moving into Methodology-only papers, and still using RAMI4.0 as a reference, García et al. [19] proposes a guide to retrofitting, this time focusing on the application of the AAS proposed alongside RAMI4.0, as well as using OPC UA as their main communication protocol. They define the steps involved in the process of retrofitting, essentially building up the AAS of a specific piece of equipment, beginning with the definition and design of the system architecture, its IT platform, information model, the specific views to access information and a later validation of the design. This is then followed up with guidance on how to implement the designed retrofit. They don't exactly propose a specific architecture, as they indicate the one presented is specific to the use case they are presenting, rather than a general AAS architecture. Pueo et al. [18] proposes a 7 step Methodology to aid SME's engineers through a retrofit process, as they must temporarily become designers of this one-off product. This methodology goes into detail from planning and design all the way to implementation and validation phases, specifying intermediate steps and requirements, and the deliverables of each phase. They follow up by retrofitting a "gear profile tester" to showcase the implementation of their proposed methodology. Carlo et al. [20] proposes a more general methodology with the purpose of retrofitting an old process plant. It is divided into 4 steps: Definition of objectives, Analysis of the current state of the plant, the retrofit process and the implementation of user interfaces. The intentions of this paper are focused more on their retrofit use case, which is why the methodology is left in a more generalized state. Despite this, it still presents a good reference of the retrofit process itself.

Gaps in the literature

From the reviewed literature, it is possible to assert that the retrofit process has been thoroughly defined and explained. It may be more beneficial to follow a more detailed and complex or more generalized and simpler methodology, all depending on the possessed knowledge on the relevant technologies as well as the desired scope. Between methodologies whose focus leans more towards retrofit for maintenance like Duque et al.'s [25], methodologies which consider economic feasibility and attempt a retrofit without stopping a running system such as Nowacki et al.'s [26], to more generalized guidelines for smaller implementations like the one presented by Pessoa et al.'s [27], the retrofit process seems to be properly covered. As mentioned before, methodologies do not suffer greatly from the lack of control-oriented literature, as most of them either refer to a function-agnostic guideline or can easily be brought into the scope of sensing and control with minor additions. Architectures on the other hand do not possess this advantage, and while there are plenty of architectural frameworks to build I4.0 systems for the purpose of adding data collection capabilities, there is a scarcity of smart control retrofitting architectures, leaving those interested without a clear image or structure on how additional control capabilities look like and what they are composed of.

Another point of interest that was caught during the review of the presented literature regarding the elements introduced in a smart retrofit, particularly those directly applied to the retrofitted equipment. It is clear that taking into account the current capabilities of the retrofitted machine is an important factor in the manner it will be retrofitted, with some methodologies explicitly stating that this is a key consideration to take into account on the steps prior to the actual retrofit [23][26][28][29][30]. Despite this, current architectures do not take into account or explicitly mention the potential differences that different implementations of sensors and

controllers may have, as they may or may not greatly differ depending on the capabilities that the equipment to retrofit already possesses and may change the functions that the elements introduced during the retrofit may need to perform. For example, Hawkridge et al. [15] explains on its proposed architecture the different parts, or blocks as they refer to them, of a retrofitted system as most architectures do, while also go into detail of what each block is composed of. However, they bundle all the possible functions that their data collection block could have and cover differences in implementations through their optional building blocks that may or may not be needed. Nowacki et al. [26] makes a more explicit differentiation of sensing components on their reference architecture, where the elements added for data capture and transmission directly depend on what the machine has to offer. However, since their contributions were focused more on their proposed methodology, these differences are made on a surface level, mentioning only the names of the different technologies that can be applied and not diving any deeper on what each of these are.

With these two previous points into consideration, this thesis aims to propose a smart retrofit architecture that expands on the current literature and expands on these gaps. First, the presented architecture will consider the addition of both sensing and control capabilities into the retrofitted legacy equipment, taking more advantage of the benefit from both sides of retrofitting. Secondly, an explicit distinction will be made between the components that need to be added during retrofit based on the existing capabilities, or lack thereof, of the legacy equipment to be retrofitted. A comprehensive taxonomy will be proposed in order to clearly define these differences, where the concept of sensing and control modules will be introduced, as well as the definition of different module types for both of them. These types of modules will differ from each other based on the context that they should be applied, which directly depends on the capabilities of the legacy machine prior to its retrofit. Through the proposed architecture, the functional requirements of each of these types of modules will be described, focusing on the different tasks that the components of a module should perform based on its type. The module compositions focus on these functional requirements rather than defining specific hardware, as the same kind of functionality can be achieved with different numbers of elements based on how it's implemented.

A retrofitted machine requires an IoT system to be part of, or else the retrofit loses its purpose. As such, to present a more comprehensive architecture the implementation of an IoT platform will be included as part of the architecture. The main goal of this architecture remains to be an aid for SMEs to begin their introduction into I4.0 environments, and as such the proposed system architecture will intend to present itself through a simplified structure. To achieve this, an expanded system architecture will be designed expanding on the work done by Hawkridge et al. [15], whose proposed retrofit blueprint is meant to be a first step into IoT systems for SMEs, which can later be expanded into more complex ones. Some inspiration will also be taken from Hawkridge et al. [15] for this architecture on its definition of the previously mentioned module types, particularly from the composition of their data collection block. While they do not perform the differentiation that this architecture aims for, the composition of this data collection block showcases both in a simple and comprehensive manner the set of components that this block requires. As such, a similar way of defining the functional requirements of each type of module will be presented.

| REFERENCE | METHODOLOGY | ARCHITECTURE | USE CASE | SENSING ONLY | SENSING & CONTROL |
|-----------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------|----------------------|
| [31] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [32] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [23] | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | \checkmark |
| [33] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [34] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [35] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [36] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [37] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [38] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [26] | \checkmark | \checkmark | | \checkmark | |
| [39] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [40] | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | |
| [24] | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [41] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [18] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [28] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [19] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [10] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [42] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [43] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [44] | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | |
| [45] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [46] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [47] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [25] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [48] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [27] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [17] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [49] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [50] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [9] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [15] | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [51] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [52] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [53] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [54] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [20] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [55] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [56] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [21] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [57] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [58] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [59] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [16] | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [13] | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | |

Table 1: Smart retrofit frameworks and applications found in the literature.

| [60] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
|------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| [61] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [62] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [63] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [64] | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [65] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [66] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [29] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| [22] | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | \checkmark |
| [30] | \checkmark | | \checkmark | \checkmark | |

CHAPTER 3

SMART RETROFIT ARCHITECTURE

This chapter presents a novel architecture for the smart retrofit of legacy equipment, designed to fill in the gaps found in the literature of smart retrofitting. By expanding on the retrofit blueprint proposed by Hawkridge et al. [15], an overall system architecture will be defined which encompasses the basic functionality requirements of an IoT system. The proposed architecture will encompass a more comprehensive vision of smart retrofitting by considering the integration of both sensing and control additions capabilities. A comprehensive taxonomy will also be defined, which defines the set of added components as "modules", and further differentiates between types of sensing and control modules, making a clear separation based on their depth of integration within the retrofitted machine and thus the amount of intervention and modifications required on the original equipment. A complete description of each module type will be presented, describing the different situations where each should be applied depending on the existing capabilities of the legacy machine to be retrofitted, as well as the functionality that each module should fulfill. Finally, a retrofit use case will be utilized to visualize the presented architecture in a real retrofit scenario, where the retrofit performed on a pecan cracking machine will be described through the proposed architecture. Through these contributions, this thesis aims to provide a more comprehensive view of the elements involved in a smart retrofit and thus aid in its design process.

System architecture

Before diving into the differences between sensing and control modules that a machine is subjected to during its retrofit, it is important to present an overview of the complete system that would ultimately result from this process. It does not suffice to retrofit a machine to collect information and enable smart control, but it is also crucial to develop a proper IoT platform capable of capturing, storing, analyzing and displaying the information gathered from the applied sensor modules, as well as its ability to use this newfound data to control and automatize the now smart equipment through its control modules. Following a similar idea from Hawkridge et al. [15], one of the intentions of the proposed system architecture is to remain somewhat simple, as one of its goals is to aid SMEs into understanding the general composition of an IoT system. Where a more extensively detailed architecture may help in higher scale applications, this architecture aims to showcase the first step for manufacturers in adopting the new I4.0 paradigms, which would allow later on for more powerful yet complicated systems.

The complete system architecture, presented in Figure 2, is separated into the different requirements that an IoT system should fulfill in order to consider it a complete system. More specifically, the top "blocks" represent the functionality of the different elements of an IoT platform, all of which must have the ability to communicate through a common service layer. It is important to note that, while each requirement is shown as its own block, it does not imply that each should be handled individually by separate hardware. A single computing device could encompass the functionality of multiple or even all requirements. Although the latter is often the common implementation, it is left open to the decision of those who implement this architecture whether or not to separate one or more blocks on its own separate hardware. As such, each requirement will be described as if they were independent from each other.

22

First, a user interface is required, which should enable users to directly interact with the system. This interface can be implemented in various ways, such as a device-specific application or as a web application capable of being accessed through multiple devices. It should possess the ability to display the information that is being gathered either numerically and visually through graphs, gauges or other forms of visualizations, for present and past history of these values. It is also through this interface that users should be able to perform the control of the machine utilizing the introduced control modules. This interface should allow for further organization of these different displays and controls by users, in order to focus on the elements that are most relevant for them. It is also through available user interfaces that users would gain access to other functions of the system to access its databases, manage data processing algorithms, and develop and deploy automations. Unless complete access by all users is desired, the platform hosting this interface



Figure 2: Complete system architecture

should allow system administrators to limit the access of users to only certain parts of the system, as to protect more fragile or critical parts of it from the general user. In the same manner, limitations must be put in place to limit the access to the interface itself to unauthorized personnel through authentication methods, such as the username and password requirements, among other options.

Another crucial requirement to an IoT platform is Storage capabilities. While just the possession of live data on the status of different parameters has its own undeniable value, the quantity of information that can be derived from the knowledge of a parameter throughout time is exponentially higher. Whether for short- or long-term storage, the device performing storage functions should have access to the appropriate physical storage media devices, such as hard drives, SSDs or others. Alternatively, this storage can be performed through cloud storage applications, although this raises the complexity of the system as well as the latency of the interaction with the stored data. On either case, the implemented storage system should allow for writing and reading of information to and from other parts of the system, should they require and be allowed to, which must be handled through an appropriate Database Management System (DBMS).

While not immediately required, a proper IoT platform should allow for the eventual implementation of data analytics algorithms for further Data Processing capabilities. Whether on the same hardware that performs data storage or not, access to the required data should be available to the computing unit responsible for performing the desired processing algorithms, both historical and live data, which allow for further information to be inferred from the already vast amounts obtained from the sensing modules.

24

In a similar way, the platform should allow for the development and deployment of system automations that take advantage of the access not just of incoming data, but also the ability to generate input towards the control modules introduced into the retrofitted equipment. As such, the hardware in charge of executing the developed automations should have the required access to the historical data of the machine's parameters, as well as the live information about these.

All of these previous components, as well as the sensing and control modules introduced into the machine, require means of communication with each other. For this, a service layer must be deployed which allows for the interconnectivity of the system through the ability to push data into it, as well as passively listen or actively request data from it. This communication should be done utilizing a specific communication protocol (OPC UA, MQTT, MTConnect, etc) and while more than one may be implemented and used, as not every device may "speak" in one protocol, it is recommended to keep the amount of implemented communication protocols to a minimum, as to not increase the complexity of the entire system. Besides the specific medium in which the data will be communicated (Wi-Fi, Ethernet, Bluetooth, etc.), for any communication protocol to function effectively it is essential to implement the fundamental infrastructure and components required by said protocol. For example, protocols such as MQTT rely on the deployment of a broker, consisting of a central messaging server that receives data from publishing clients and distributes it to subscribed clients. This can, once again, be done on its own separate device or be implemented on the same hardware as other parts of the system.

Finally, although not necessarily required, it is recommended to leave the system open to the integration of external applications, either through the IoT platform or directly through the service layer. While it is important to remain cautious while integrating foreign software, opensource applications offer the ability to integrate solutions already solved by developers or other
companies that are likely to direct their focus to the betterment of their own work, allowing for the aggregation of complex functionality without spending mayor resources on their development.

Sensing modules

With the overall picture of the IoT system, it is now possible to move onto the retrofitting of the machine itself and the modules involved in this process, namely the proposed Sensing and Control Modules. A sensing module corresponds to the complete set of elements introduced into a machine as part of its retrofitting, with the intention of giving this machine the ability to capture the value of one or more parameters and be able to expose these to an IoT platform or system. A sensing module is functionally divided into 3 layers: *Acquisition* of the parameter's value, the *Preprocessing* of said acquisition to bring it from an analog signal into the digital space in a numeric form and *Transmission* of the resulting values into the present IoT system. Sensing modules can be structured differently depending on their depth of implementation relative to the equipment they



Figure 3: General overview of sensing modules based on their relative position to the original machine

are being integrated into. Four types of sensing modules are identified as presented in Figure *3*: Non-intrusive, Replacement, Independent and Intrusive. The implementation of each comes with a different depth of involvement and modifications of the original machine. Due to this, while their involved hardware may not greatly differ, there still are differences in the functional requirements that each must fulfill. These differences are presented in Figure 4, and will be explained in detail below.

Before explaining these functional differences, their similarities should first be presented. First, all of these modules require the ability to interface with and communicate through the service layer, in order to transmit the captured information, and as such should include components that enable this communication. These modules may also require performing a previous pre-processing of the captured data, be it by aggregation, filtering, or any other transformation over this data to acquire the desired information. It is important to perform these small pre-processing steps through these modules rather than on the IoT platform, should they be needed, as it greatly alleviates the



Figure 4: Functional requirements of each sensing module.

computational load that it would otherwise need to handle if tasked with performing processing tasks from every single module. Finally, every type of module can optionally incorporate a physical user interface on the machine or the legacy device itself, if monitoring by a physical operator is required. For sensing modules, it is mostly on the steps before the communication of the capture data where functional differences arise, which will be described bellow.

<u>Non-intrusive</u>

A non-intrusive sensing module is one that does very minor or no modifications to the retrofitted machine. It instead exploits an interface already exposed by the machine, be it electronic or mechanical, in order to obtain the values of the desired parameters. The largest advantage of this type of sensor is that, since it does not require modifications to the retrofitted machine, most of the development and construction processes of this module does not interfere with the regular operation of the legacy equipment. Even more, this type of module should be able to be easily removed from the machine if deemed appropriate to do so, and the machine itself and its functionality would not suffer in any way from the loss of this module. As this module takes advantage of the original equipment already being outfitted with the ability to provide information about itself, its task focuses instead on bringing these parameter values into IoT space. Besides the communication requirements, this module greatly differs from the rest as it requires a capable medium or adapter to interface with the machine that directly depends on the machine itself. It also requires the ability to, through the control of this medium, interface with the machine in order to obtain the exposed information, be it by passively capturing values as they arrive or actively requesting the machine to provide them. Once these values are obtained, it's now a matter of preprocessing and formatting them in the right manner to be pushed into the service layer.

This type of sensor module is one of the more interesting ones in its freedom of application and complexity. The implementation of one of these modules can be done from a simple wired connection to the legacy equipment through an available Ethernet port or existing PLCs, to using image capture and recognition algorithms to visually "read" the original machine's indicators or gauges, as seen by Tran et al.'s work [67]. It is up to the engineers applying the retrofit to decide when does the complexity involved in the development of one of these modules outweighs the value gained by not modifying the original equipment, at which point it would be wiser to instead start working on the machine with the use of a different type of module.

<u>Replacement</u>

A *replacement* sensing module, similar to an adapter module, seeks to capture the value of a parameter that the machine is already measuring itself. However, in cases where it would be too complex or unreasonable to figure out an adapter to an existing interface is when Replacement sensing modules are used. In this case, modifications are performed on the machine, relative to the machine's interface level, in such a way that it still takes advantage of the machine providing the measurements. While the implementation of Replacement modules may seem similar to Nonintrusive modules there is a significant difference between around the fact that, as opposed to the latter, the former requires work to be done directly in the machine, which may need a halt on its operation.

The addition of this type of sensing module essentially involves upgrading, modifying or completely replacing the current user interface of the machine with IoT enabled technology. Because of this, the data acquisition of this module is simpler than the rest, as its functionality revolves around capturing and interpreting already existing signals into numerical values in a similar manner that the previous interface would, pre-processing these values if necessary and finally pushing them into the service layer.

Independent

More often than not the machine does not provide all the parameters that might be relevant to the functionality of itself or the process it is involved in. As such it is very common to add sensors with the purpose of acquiring information on new parameters. This makes the *independent* type of sensor module one of the most likely to be added while retrofitting legacy equipment. These modules are characterized by, as mentioned before, capturing new information that the machine was not already providing, without interfering with the machine's functionality or structure in a considerable manner. The integration of these sensing modules is performed through the addition of new components to the respective machine rather than the modification of already existing ones. This means that generally the largest alterations to the original equipment required for this type of sensing module mostly involve fixing the components of this module in place, which means that the original structure of the machine is often left intact. In some cases, these kind of sensor modules may not even be located in the machine, as they can be implemented as a previous or next step of the machine's process, to measure for example parameters of the machine's produced output. Besides this, the functional requirements of an Independent sensor module are similar to those of a Replacement module, with the addition of actual physical sensors to measure the desired parameters in the form of electrical signals, as well as a potential components capable of capturing these signals in cases where the physical sensors or sensing devices cannot perform their own communication to the service layer and as such a separate device is needed.

<u>Intrusive</u>

Intrusive sensing modules come into play when information is both not exposed by the legacy machine and not possible to acquire with just Independent modules, or using them would result in data acquisition less accurate than required. In this case, sensors have to be integrated into the inner workings of the legacy machine, which may come with some considerable modifications depending on what parameters must be captured. The addition of Intrusive sensor modules involves the upgrade of key parts of the machine their replacement with newer and "smarter" components that, besides continuing to fulfill their primary function, expose in some manner information about them that can be captured and further transmitted. With information being provided by this newer component, it only remains to be able to be able to gather and interpret the information provided by this newer component, pre-process it, and communicate it to the service layer. This can be either done through separate hardware or even by the upgraded device, if it presents those capabilities.

Control modules

Similarly to sensing modules, a *control module* encompasses the complete set of elements introduced into a machine as part of its retrofitting, with the intention of giving this machine the ability to remotely control one or more of its parameters through instructions generated from the respective IoT platform or system. Also like a sensing module, a control module's functional requirements can be divided into the 3 layers, with these however being in the reverse direction. A Control module is then functionally composed of an *Acquisition* layer which should receive from the service layer inputs and instructions to be carried out, a *Processing* layer which transforms these digital instructions into the corresponding electrical signals and a *Transmission* layer, where

these signals are propagated into the respective actuation component to be operated. As presented in Figure 5, Control modules can be divided into 3 categories, based on the level of involvement with the retrofitted machine and the requirements that must be fulfilled on each case: Nonintrusive, Replacement and Intrusive modules. While the functional requirements of each of these modules may slightly differ, as presented in Figure 6, all of them possess a few common requirements. First, all control modules must be able to interface and communicate with the service layer, in order to receive input generated from other sections of the IoT system. Additionally, all of these modules may include a physical user interface if direct interaction and control of the machine is desired by physical operators. Finally, these modules require means to translate incoming instructions and generate the correct signals to be transmitted into the respective actuator to be controlled.

While not explicitly shown on the presented graphics, there is one final and very important requirement for any control module implemented in a machine's retrofit: the value of the parameter intended to be controlled should also be known to the IoT platform, specifically to users or other



Figure 5: General overview of Control Modules based on their relative position to the original machine

systems that may perform remote control. This can be done either through a separate implementation of Sensor modules, or by incorporating Sensor and Control module functionality on the same device. While it may be possible to perform control without awareness of the status of the parameter being controlled, such as in cases where the state of a controlled device can be inferred post-initialization or "homing" or if the machine itself is the one that handles the control itself as is sometimes the case on non-intrusive implementations, it is generally risky to blindly control any kind of machine parameter, especially if doing so remotely and without direct view of the effects of the control on the machine.



Figure 6: Functional requirements of each control module.

Non-intrusive

A non-intrusive control module is characterized by only needing minor or no modifications at all to the original legacy machine. Similarly to a sensor module of the same type, it is instead an external element or device that takes advantage of the already existing controls and interfaces of the machine. This presents once again the advantage of keeping the retrofitted equipment unaffected, at least from the introduction of this module, which enables the possibility of developing this module separately while the machine remains in operation as well as being able to be later removed in a way that leaves the equipment in the same state as it was before the module's introduction. To accomplish this, the module requires components capable of interfacing with the machine through its exposed controls, which can be either through intended sockets or ports, or in a more unintended way like performing actuation over manual switches and buttons. Regardless of the manner in which this module interfaces with the machine, this module should be able to generate the proper instructions from incoming input from the service layer or the optionally implemented local user interface, which must be further transformed in the necessary actions to be performed on the respective adapter, such as transmitting commands through serial communication. Because the implementation of this type of control module may involve direct communication with a machine's controller, it is common to simultaneously implement a nonintrusive sensor module through the same hardware, as actuator controllers would often also provide information about themselves or the parameter being controlled.

Like sensor modules of the same type, these modules present an interesting variety in the ways they can be implemented, as well as the challenges that arise depending on the corresponding machine interface intended to be used. These modules often show up when retrofitting equipment that already possesses forms of communication with other computing equipment, and as such simple interfaces like proper Ethernet or Serial port connections are all that is required to start communicating with the machine, which is often common for more modern equipment like newer CNC machines or robotic arms [19][21]. On the other hand, more complex implementations can be developed when attempting to introduce this kind of module on equipment that only possesses controls intended to be physically operated by a human being. As an example, Jónasdóttir et al. [16] developed a device capable of encapsulating the control panel of a CNC and operating it through actuation that allows the device to press on each button as an operator would normally do.

<u>Replacement</u>

Once direct modifications to the refactored equipment are needed is when it's better to move into *replacement* control modules. This type of modules require a moderate amount of modifications to the legacy machine, as it essentially replaces the functionality of the machine's original user interface in favor of better suited components that would enable their remote access. As such, it must be able to replicate the control signals that would previously be generated by the original controls in order to perform the respective actuation. Alternatively, this module can take advantage of an existing user interface, rather than directly discarding it. By being located between this original interface and the actuators of the machine, it can act as a "Middle-man" which receives input from the original controls and replicates them forward, while still being able to listen for instructions coming from the service layer. In this case, the hardware implemented requires not only a connection to the service layer, but also a way of capturing the original interface's inputs, both which should be transformed into the correct signals to perform the corresponding actuation.

This type of control could be considered the most "operator friendly", as it has the opportunity of maintaining the same user-facing controls that were previously used, allowing operators to perform their respective control without changing the way they would normally interact with the machine.

Intrusive

Finaly there are *intrusive* control modules. This type differs from the rest as the modifications on the original machine are not a consequence of the implementation of this module during retrofitting, but rather the opposite: Very heavy modifications are made on the machine or part of it in order to modify and/or add functionality that it previously did not possess, and as such a completely new controller is required to handle it. The implementation of this module includes the addition of new actuation that would allow the machine to perform new functions that would enhance the process or resulting product from it, or perform in an automated manner previously existing functions that originally direct required manual, like a hand crank, in which the speed and precision of this control heavily depends on the capabilities of the respective operator. In these cases, forms of actuation are introduced that can allow not just for automated control, but one that is performed more efficiently and accurately. Like non-intrusive modules, a retrofit component that fulfills the role of an Intrusive control module more often than not would also attempt to fulfill the requirements of an Intrusive sensing module, as the introduction of a smart component would normally, or at least ideally, provide both means of control as well as information about itself. As such, it is common to implement both modules simultaneously through the same hardware.

Use case example

In order to visualize the implementation of the proposed architecture, a retrofit use case of a legacy machine will be examined. This use case was not performed as part of this thesis and was instead developed by laboratory colleagues working on an agriculture research project funded by the USDA. As part of their work, Smart Retrofit was performed on a ME-JC-24 high speed cracker (Figure 7), a machine used in the pecan industry to crack large amounts of produce. This machine is operated by inserting batches of pecans into its main funnel, where its lower end is covered by a metal plate that can be manually rotated to change its angle and thus the size of the lower opening of the funnel, which in turn controls the flow of the pecans. Through two hand cranks it is possible to adjust the position and angle a metal plate inside the machine, which changes the way pecans are crushed. Once the machine's main motor is turned on through its controller, which acts as a user interface as well, it generates a motion on the metal plate that presses against incoming pecans, cracking them. Despite its lack of "smart" capabilities, this machine still remains as the state-of-the-art equipment for the agricultural sector of pecan processing. Through this retrofit and the



Figure 7: ME-JC-24 high speed cracker, also known as the "JC cracker". Source: [1]

introduction of Industry 4.0 technology done by the members of this project, they hope to increase the efficiency of this machine, as well as being able capture data for further analysis to determine factors that affect the entire process of shelling a pecan.

For this performed retrofit, an IoT platform was first deployed. Home Assistant is used as this system's IoT platform which, while the original intention of this software is to host smart home IoT applications, its functionality bears no difference from what could be considered an Industrial platform. This platform covers all the required functionality mentioned in the architecture: It exposes a user interface from which users can interact with the system, it possesses its own storage using SQLite by default which takes advantage of the SSD connected to the computer hosting it, and it allows for further processing of the available data, as well as the generation of simple automations. Means of interaction with the user interface are added to the machine through an additional touch screen (*Figure 8*), however it is also possible to access this interface through any web browser through the local network. Although more than one



Figure 8: Home Assistant's user interface through local touch screen.

communication protocol is used, as some components require their own, Home Assistant provides service layer functionality by enabling the use of multiple protocols through the addition of addons and the use of TCP connections. For example, to communicate with ESP microcontrollers an add-on called ESPHome is added to the platform, which enables communication of these microcontrollers through a custom TCP protocol.

Moving on to the modifications to the machine, a retrofit in the form of non-intrusive modules, both of sensing and control, was performed to the machine's main motor controller. This controller exposed ports for serial communication (*Figure 9*), which simplifies the implementation of the required machine interface adapter down to a direct wire connection to these ports. Through the use of a RS485 to Ethernet adapter directly connected to the computer hosting the IoT platform, it was possible to communicate with this controller using serial communication to obtain both the state of the main motor and control its actuation, fulfilling then the rest of the module's functional requirements.



Figure 9: Main motor controller (green) and both RS485 adapters introduced (red)

For the funnel opening plate, intrusive modules were introduced, once again for sensing and control, in which the manual lever used to adjust the angle of this plate was replaced by a servomotor (*Figure 10*). This motor has its own embedded controller that can both actuate this motor as well as provide information about its current angle, meaning that the servomotor alone performs both the generation of actuation and interpretation of information itself, leaving only the input generation for the control module and communication for both control and sensing modules as the missing requirements to fulfill, which were once again implemented using serial communication through a RS485 to Ethernet adapter (*Figure 9*), which connects from the servomotor's controller directly to the IoT platform.

To enable the automated control of the position and rotation of the crushing plate, intrusive control was introduced as a replacement of the original hand cranks (*Figure 13*). Since the inner mechanism that performed the movement of the plate extended across the machine, it was possible to introduce large stepper motors as our module's new actuators for this control without removing



Figure 10: Servomotor introduced to control the funnel's lower opening, highlighted in red.

the original hand cranks. While these do remain on the machine, it is no longer possible to make use of them during normal operation, as they would interfere with the functionality of the stepper motors. Both of these motors' actuation was generated and directed by their own individual stepper driver, which in turn were controlled by an ESP32 microcontroller that directly communicates with the IoT platform through a local Wi-Fi connection and generates the appropriate inputs. In this particular case, no simultaneous sensing modules were implemented. Instead, both stepper motors would perform a homing process at the beginning of their operation. This means that, as long as the machine is kept powered and the stepper motors operate normally and do not lose steps, the position of the motors can be inferred.

Finally, three independent sensor modules were introduced into the machine. The first module introduces a rotary position sensor to gather the main motor's speed, which takes advantage of the same ESP32 used for the stepper motors to perform the subsequent signal capture, interpretation, pre-processing and communication. Afterwards, a module with the purpose of the moisture levels of the introduced pecans was introduced to the machine, as it was deemed a quality that directly affects their cracking. A "no-contact moisture sensor" was attached to the top of the funnel (*Figure 12*) which performs both the measuring and interpretation of this module, and exposes this information through a serial port which, by using a serial to Ethernet adapter as our communication device, was able to be sent to the IoT platform. Lastly, a module was introduced to the previous module, a digital scale which fulfills both sensing and interpretation was introduced to the side of the machine (*Figure 11*), and through the same serial to Ethernet adapter as the previous module communication with the IoT platform was made possible.



Figure 11: Digital scale added to aid in the machine's process.



Figure 12: No-contact moisture sensor.



Figure 13: Stepper motors introduced as replacement from the hand cranks, highlighted in red.

Summary

A complete overview of the retrofit performed on the chosen use case example can be found in Figure 14, showing a summary of the modules introduced to the cracking machine, as well as displaying which physical component performs which functions from these modules. As can be seen on this overview, additions to control the main motor involve both sensing and control module functionality, both performed through the same medium. Similarly, the added components on the funnel opening plate fulfill both intrusive module's requirements through the same hardware, showing alongside the previous example how each of these modules is not limited to one device or set of devices for each implementation, and that instead the requirements for multiple modules can be fulfilled through the same device(s). This is displayed more evidently through the modules that introduced the new stepper motors and the rotary sensor, where part of the requirements of an intrusive control module and an independent sensing module were both fulfilled



Figure 14: Overview of the retrofitted example use case

by the same microcontroller, despite servicing different type of modules. This can also be seen on the modules for the added moisture sensor and digital scale, where multiple devices can share one communication medium.

An interesting property of independent sensing modules can be observed through the module that introduces the digital scale to the machine. While it can be considered a device separate from the retrofitted machine, the measurement that can be captured by this module directly aid in the machine's usage and its process, as it provides extra information about the pecans to be cracked before they are inserted into the machine. This showcases how independent sensing modules don't necessarily need to be positioned *inside* the retrofitted machine, and can instead consist of independent components that can aid to its functionality by adding capabilities related to previous or following process steps.

While in this case the entire IoT platform was implemented through a single device and software, it is important to reiterate that this is not the only viable implementation, as there are cases where it would be better to delegate intensive analysis algorithms to stronger computing hardware, or storage functionality to higher capacity servers.

As demonstrated through the examination of this use case, the performed retrofit can be properly explained through the proposed modules, which allow for an easier understanding of the purpose of each of the added elements in the machine's retrofit. The proposed modules should be then able to deliver a better understanding of the different options in terms of what can be achieved through a machine's smart retrofitting, as well as providing a better understanding of the fundamental requirements of each, hopefully allowing for an easier retrofit development and hardware selection process.

CHAPTER 4

INDUSTRY 4.0 LEARNING PLATFORM

This chapter introduces the learning platform developed through the work of this thesis. The retrofit architecture proposed in the previous chapter is used to design the implementation of this platform, which aims to aid in the learning of Industry 4.0 (I4.0) technologies, particularly of Industrial Internet of Things, as well as showcasing the use of the proposed architecture through the development of a small scale IoT system. For this chapter, a summary of the problem will be first presented, as well as the context in which the learning platform came to be. Following this, the design process and implementation of the first iteration of this platform will be presented, showcasing the use of the proposed architecture. Finally, the last section will cover the weaknesses found through the exposition of the developed platform, as well as the measures taken to solve these and the effects of these changes.

The GA-AIM project

Many challenges arise due to Industry 4.0 being an emerging technology, both from the side of companies and future workers. On one hand we have the employers, SMEs may not aware of the potential benefits of I4.0 technologies or the risks of not integrating themselves into this new form of manufacturing. Additionally, for those that are aware of the potential gains, they may see these state-of-the-art technologies as something left for the "Big Leagues" and not something a small business can or should be able to handle. This creates a false sense of fear from the potential complexity and extreme costs that smart systems may involve. While this may have been true in

the beginning of the smart manufacturing era, the advances of technology that have happened since then have severely lowered both the cost and difficulty barriers that Industry 4.0 may have had before. On the other hand, students are not aware of the technologies involved in I4.0 and thus not aware of the potential jobs and skills that may be required to extract value of these new paradigms. The duality of these two issues are as follows: SMEs are faced with a lack of I4.0 capable workers, and future workers are faced with a lack in demand for I4.0 technology experts.

The Georgia Artificial Intelligence in Manufacturing project (GA-AIM) was created with the purpose of helping alleviate these issues. This EDA funded regional challenge aims to expose SMEs to the capabilities and opportunities that Industry 4.0 technologies can offer, while on the other side bringing awareness to students and the workforce, particularly in rural communities, about career opportunities that come with this new shift in industry, as well as introducing them to these new technologies through learning platforms.

The first phase of the project, and the one presented in this chapter, revolved around the exposure of I4.0 technologies. This would be achieved through the design and development of physical demonstrations of these technologies, which would be used through different events as well as in the GA-AIM Mobile Studio, to hold several of these physical demonstrations across the state of Georgia. To concretize the scope of each demo, I4.0 technologies were divided into 6 "families": Computer Vision, Additive Manufacturing, Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT), Augmented & Virtual Reality (AR/VR), Robotics and Natural Language Processing (NLP). Each of these families would then get its own physical demo, denominated "Vignettes", which should provide an overview of the respective technology, as well as providing an idea of its potential uses and value. This chapter will only cover the design and construction of the IIoT physical demonstration, however most of the Vignettes had a similar design and construction process.

The intent of the IIoT Vignette is to allow manufacturers and students alike to begin understanding concepts of IoT and the value that can be obtained in manufacturing from the interconnection of different systems and data points. The design of the Vignette's system should be on the simpler side, as to not overwhelm its audience while also showcasing that value can be extracted, even from very small use cases. To aid in the construction of this Vignette, the retrofit architecture proposed in the previous chapter is used, which was designed with the intention of being a first step into IoT systems and as such its implementation would fit well on the intended smaller use scale. The use of the proposed architecture should provide guidance through the design process of the Vignette's systems and, by using it on the construction of this physical demonstration, it will be possible to showcase to manufacturers both the proposed architecture and a potential implementation of it.

The first iteration of the Vignette

The first step was to select and deploy an appropriate IoT platform. While there are several fully fleshed out industry-ready platforms, an important constraint is that the chosen platform must be easily accessible, even for students. This means that any IoT software that is locked behind a hefty paywall or on a subscription model is immediately no longer an option. Another consideration is that the platform to be chosen should be capable of handling all the functional requirements defined in the proposed system architecture. As such, the chosen platform should be able to provide a user interface, store historical data and allow for the creation of simple automations and data analysis algorithms. To further emphasize the accessibility of the system to be deployed, the platform should have a low knowledge requirement to begin integrating automations and algorithms within it. Some of the platforms found, although more complete in

terms of functionality, were more complex and slower to learn and/or did not have sufficient accompanying documentation. With all these considerations in mind, Home Assistant was chosen as the IoT platform for the IIot Vignette. Albeit Home Assistant is primarily intended to be used for smart home applications, the functionality between an IoT smart home application and an IIoT smart factory system is nearly the same. While Industrial IoT platforms come with higher security, rate of data transfer and generally higher robustness, they both accomplish the same purpose of collecting data from varied sources, keeping a historical record of said data, and enabling automation through the connection of various devices through the same unified platform. Although Home Assistant would not be recommended as an industrial scale IIoT system, it works without issues on smaller scales and could even be used for small benchmarking projects or as a testbed for measuring the benefits of IoT on bigger systems, especially before jumping into more reliable but expensive software. As was seen on the use case presented on the previous chapter, Home Assistant has the ability to handle all the requirements of an IoT platform established on the architecture. It also comes with the secondary benefit from the fact it is an open-source platform that has been around since 2013. Due to the high popularity of Smart Home applications and the customizability of Home Assistant, it has gathered a rather large number of both users and developers. Therefore, not only have many solutions for integrating different devices been created by its userbase, but also all of these are open to the public as well, enabling the addition of a variety of external applications. This also means that a high number of problems or challenges that a Home Assistant user may face may already have a solution provided by another developer if searched for it, sometimes either through add-ons to the platform or documentation.

Once we decided on our IoT platform, a choice had to be made regarding the hardware that would host it. Conveniently a perk of Home Assistant is the ability to run it in a variety of hardware, ranging from Windows or Linux directly, as a Virtual Machine or any x86-64 machine. The computing unit to be chosen had to be able to facilitate connectivity to itself, either through Wi-Fi or direct Ethernet connection, to facilitate the implementation of the system's service layer. This computing unit also required the ability to boot directly into Home Assistant, in order to simplify the booting of the whole Vignette, and should be ideally economical as to be viable for SMEs. Which is why the obvious option of a laptop was not possible. A Raspberry Pi was initially considered; however this idea was soon dropped for two main reasons. First, while a Raspberry Pi could technically host and run a Home Assistant instance, its low processing power runs the risk of overheating as well as potential data storage issues should too much data be accumulated, especially since it is not trivial to connect additional external memory drives to it. The second issue was related to the perceived negative optics that a deployed Raspberry Pi would generate for industry adopters. Because of the accessibility of these microprocessors both economically and in terms of complexity, or rather lack thereof, they have become popular as an entry point to electronics. Unfortunately, due to this an industry-deployed Raspberry Pi may give out a more "toy-like" impression as it may oversell on the simplicity of the system. Therefore, another alternative was searched for that could have more processing power and perceived as more robust and "Industry-ready", while still remaining economically affordable. This led us to use a ZimaBoard, shown in Figure 15, as our main piece of hardware, advertised as a "Single Board Server" it works essentially as a Quad-Core micro-computer, which has enough processing power to handle any data processing that we might implement later in the scope of the Vignettes, and does not have a cost much higher than the average Raspberry Pi, especially as the latter has been suffering inventory shortages due to resale scalpers. It is also possible to connect an external SSD memory through a SATA cable to the ZimaBoard, which solves the storage problem as well.

With the IoT platform up and running, the next step was to properly define the example to be displayed on the Vignette, as well as the modules that would showcase this example. As the Vignette does not exactly include a machine to be retrofitted, only Independent sensing modules and Intrusive sensing and control can realistically be introduced. While actuation was considered as a showcase component it was ultimately deemed too risky, as it introduces pinching or crushing hazards which are not suitable for situations where the Vignette would be showcased to students. As such, only Independent sensing modules remained as the possible implementations. These would then present the value of device interconnectivity, data collection, data history, and simple automations. For the actual implementation of these different modules, three of them were composed of a combination of one 1kg Load Cells for weight sensing and one HX711 A/D weight converter to interpret the electrical values of the load cell into actual numbers, where all of these modules use an ESP32 for the necessary communication with the IoT platform through Wi-Fi. To facilitate this connection to Home Assistant, an add-on called ESPHome was used, which facilitates the programming and connection of ESP-type microcontrollers. A DHT11 humidity and



Figure 15: ZimaBoard single board server. Source: [2]

temperature sensor was implemented as a fourth module, where the same ESP32 was used for communication, as well as the interpretation of this sensor's data. Another module that used the ESP32 for interpretation and communication included a 24GHz mmWave sensor which possessed heartbeat, motion and breathing rate sensing capabilities. Finally, two more modules were introduced in the form of S31 SONOFF smart plugs, which are conveniently capable of directly connecting into the IoT platform, due to using an ESP8266 microcontroller which was reprogrammed to function in the same manner as the mentioned ESP32. These smart plugs could then perform all functional requirements, from data collection to communication of this information, thus fulfilling the requirements of the entire module in a single device. A summary of these introduced modules can be seen in Figure 16.

A physical station needed to be built to hold everything together. For this a custom designed table was constructed for each Vignette in a shape similar of an assembly station, with dimensions specifically designed to fit through the average door, as well as compact enough to be easily transported by truck, while having enough space to hold every component of the respective



Figure 16: Summary of Vignette's introduced modules.

Vignette. This table was outfitted with a cabinet to store any loose components during transportation, as well as some closed off space to secure hardware that was not meant to be exposed. The table was also outfitted with a Flat screen monitor to easily display the relevant contents of each Vignette. For the IoT Vignette, the ZimaBoard was fixed inside the closed off space, and the TV would be connected to it to display Home Assistant's Dashboards.

Aside from these mentioned modules, and to add some form of interaction beyond the sensors and the Home Assistant's dashboard, a button box and a 3 light LED tower were also introduced into the Vignette. For the connection of the LED Tower a different microcontroller was needed, as it required 12V to function while ESPs only functioned within 5V. For this, an Arduino OPTA was used instead, specifically the X00002 model. This specific model of Arduino reassembles a PLC, giving it a more industrial-ready look as well as conveying to manufacturers that may interact with the Vignette the visual representation of an IoT system integrated with PLCs. This Arduino comes with an Ethernet port which makes for an easier connection to the IoT



Figure 17: Circuit box holding the ESP32 and Arduino OPTA, with the mmWave sensor fixated at the top left.

platform. This specific model works in the voltages range of 12 to 24 volts, as well as providing four NO Relays along the usual Input/Output (I/O) analog pins, which would simplify the functionality of the LED tower. The LED tower was then connected to the relays of the Arduino and fixed to the side of the Vignette, while the Button Box wired to the Arduino's I/O pins. The Arduino was then programmed to connect to Home Assistant using the MQTT. Both the ESP32 and the Arduino OPTA were secured inside a circuit box, which itself was then fixed into the Vignette's structure (*Figure 17*). In the case of the other components, 3D printing was used to create custom fixtures and casings that would facilitate securing them on the Vignette. A custom case was made for the DHT11 and mmWave sensors, where the latter was then screwed on the circuit box in such a way that the sensor is pointing to the front of the Vignette. Custom fixtures were created for the Load cells (Figure 18), both to hold them into the Vignette on one side and to be able to hang standard plastic bins commonly found in manufacturing onto the loadcell. Printed casings were also created for the HX711 A/D converters in order to fix them next to their respective Load Cells. Finally, the button box was left loosely mounted on the Vignette with enough cable length to be easily moved around the table for easier access to these controls.



Figure 18: Load cells with custom 3D printed fixtures.

While initially it was intended for Home Assistant to fulfills the automation and data processing capabilities of the system, they were very limited in what they can do. Because of this, additional software was searched for in order to fill this role. Between the considerations taken on this search, the main requirements for this software were that it must be able to be easily integrated with the Home Assistant platform, and it should provide a simplified toolset that a user without prior programming skill could easily pick up. For this, Node-Red was found to be a very suitable platform to integrate into the Vignette. This low-code development tool is intended to aid in the creation of IoT systems through its visual block-based programming, which removes the programming language barrier and allows non-computer scientists to be able to develop data flows and automations just through their logical thinking and problem-solving skills. Node-Red was then used as the main "programming" platform, where a calibration system was made for the Load Cells, as well as some simple automations between the resulting values of the Button box and the LED tower to show as examples. Finally, to provide better access to the IoT platform as well as the Node-Red flows a tablet was mounted to the side of the Vignette, which would allow direct



Figure 19: Node-RED access through the side-mounted tablet.

interaction with Node-Red without interfering with the display of the main dashboard from the TV (*Figure 19*).

The main example shown on the Vignette would consist of the 3 storage bins (*Figure 20*), commonly found on assembly lines, being held up by the Load cells. These bins made it possible to showcase the value of data collection from very simple sensors and the amount of information that can be extrapolated from this data. For example, from the calibrated weight measurements of each bin it is possible to know the quantity of objects on each one of them. Additionally due to having historical data of current and past values, it is then possible to extrapolate new information to be able to now have knowledge on inventory count, production speeds, detecting assembly errors, incorrect assembly order, and real-time notifications to other parts of the facility alerting of low part count. From this example, it is then possible to follow up the same idea with the rest of the sensors, such as knowing machine uptime/downtime from the Smart plugs, or correlating product quality with the environment's temperature from the DHT11 sensor. The LED tower



Figure 20: Plastic bins used as the main example and their calibration dashboard.

alongside the Button box can be used as a very basic example of what an interconnected system can be, as the same input from a button that triggers a light can also be from a more advanced automation triggered by one of the integrated data sources. Node-Red was also meant to display the availability of simple programming tools for automations and IoT interconnectivity, as through this platform it was no longer necessary to hire a highly skilled computer engineer to begin working on IoT systems, however, still leaving space for deeper programming through specialized JavaScript nodes. Through the side-mounted tablet it was possible to interact with the Node-Red platform, being able to see examples of simple automations, as well as being capable of constructing new ones. The resulting IoT Vignette can be seen in Figure 21, which would serve as a baseline for future iterations.



Figure 21: Completed first version of the IoT Vignette.

The second iteration of the Vignette

After the construction of the first set of Vignettes were completed, they were exposed to SMEs, Large Industrial Companies, and students through participation in community events where the Vignettes were displayed, as well as through visits to the laboratory. Through these expositions, the value of IoT technologies was explained to the corresponding audiences, including the showcase of the proposed architecture and its implementation through the Vignette for the case of manufacturers. The Vignettes were successful in attracting the attention of manufacturers and the workforce alike, and insights regarding the strengths and, more importantly, weaknesses of each Vignette were obtained. Regarding the IoT Vignette, the first weakness found was related to part of the Load sensor wiring, particularly the HX711 A/D converters. These were not secured enough, both in terms of the custom case they were being held, as well as the wiring from them to the microcontroller, which often caused the Load sensors to give wrong readings or none at all. For this, improvements were made to the HX711 cases, so they were better fixed to the Vignette's structure, where the new design merged these cases with their respective Load cell's fixture into a single piece. To improve on the wiring, some 3D printed cases were also designed which would prevent the wires to bend excessively, as well as making the connection to the A/D converters more "tight fitted", This change made the Load sensors less prone to malfunctioning due to lose connections.

Another weakness detected was the general functionality of the mmWave sensor. While this sensor is capable of obtaining accurate heart rate, motion, and breathing rate readings, it is meant to be used in medical monitoring applications that involve only one observed person at a time. As such, the values that this sensor would generate would be almost always incorrect, due to multiple people being in front of the Vignette during demonstrations. Therefore, this sensing module was not integrated into the second and following iterations, as its measurements were not providing enough difference to warrant an alternative.

Finally, one of the biggest weaknesses found was regarding the interaction with the Vignette itself. While manufacturers would often be attracted to all Vignettes equally, they could envision the application of the presented technologies on their own systems. However, it was hard for the IIoT Vignette to catch the interest of younger audience. Ultimately, the idea and main contribution of IIoT may fall more in the technical side, and the presented ideas were not as interesting to students, whose attention tended to be directed more towards the rest of the Vignettes, which applications could be more easily gamified, such as the VR or Visual Recognition Vignettes. For this, the main approach of allowing the use of Node-Red through the side tablet was left as an example rather than the main point of interaction for students. Instead, the focus was shifted towards the Button box, and a more "Gamified" dashboard was created, shown in Figure 22, that would emphasize the interactions between the available controls, the IoT platform and the



Figure 22: "Gamified" dashboard.

LED tower through some simple games, like pressing one of the buttons to "charge" a gauge indicator or balancing a meter with the available switch. This was done on a secondary view, so it would be possible to switch back to the more technical display when presenting the Vignette to manufacturers and more technical audiences.

All of these changes quickly showed their results in the demonstrations that followed. Thanks to the changes made regarding the wiring of the load cells, malfunctions were severely reduced, as well as making the connection and disconnection of the cables easier to perform. While presenting breathing rate and motion detection was generally interesting, it often led to slight disappointment when the measurements were not actually changing when audiences attempted to do so, and the removal of this sensor allowed for a less cluttered dashboard. As for younger audiences, the gamified dashboard proved to be successful in capturing more the attention of students, as the immediate feedback and clear objectives would more often attract the curiosity of



Figure 23: Final iteration of the IoT Vignette, located inside the GA-AIM mobile studio.
some. However, due to the more technical nature of the Vignette, their interest still tended to fall more into the other demos. Nonetheless, the Vignette reached a more mature stage that addressed a lot of the found weaknesses. The Vignette was later replicated, this time with a better looking exterior and special wheels that allow the Vignette to be fixed in place (*Figure 23*). This final Vignette was then sent to the GA-AIM Mobile Studio, where it will travel across the state of Georgia to demonstrate the capabilities of Industrial Internet of Things.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

As the next incoming step in industry, it is crucial for manufacturers to begin adopting Industry 4.0 technologies and practices. Not embracing these new paradigms in the current, rapidly evolving industrial landscape is becoming an increasingly dangerous option as companies will struggle to keep up with the competition or even the entire market. As SMEs may struggle to incorporate themselves into Industry 4.0, the work performed in this thesis seeks to aid them by providing guidance on an alternative to begin incorporating these new technologies, as well as raising awareness of the potential of Industry 4.0 both to manufacturers and future workers alike, as well as dispelling the misconception that these paradigms are only meant for larger manufacturers. As such, this thesis presents two main contributions to the Industry 4.0 space, described in the sections bellow.

Smart retrofit architecture with a comprehensive taxonomy

A literature review was first performed to understand the current state-of-the-art of smart retrofitting, a means of introduction to Industry 4.0 that is rapidly gaining traction. Through this review, a wide collection of examples of retrofit were compiled and categorized depending on their contents, which made the identification of a gap easier. With this categorization, it was possible to visualize how the integration of smart control is not covered well enough, as most of the literature is focused on monitoring and sensing capabilities, thus missing on half the potential value that smart retrofitting can offer. Separately, it was noted how in the current literature, particularly in smart retrofit architectures, a differentiation between possible implementations of sensing and control components was not considered or thoroughly described, despite a few methodologies explicitly stating that considering the current capabilities of the equipment to retrofit is a crucial step, which influences the elements used in the retrofit process.

To tackle these found gaps, a smart retrofit architecture is presented, which expands on previous literature by considering both the addition of sensing and control capabilities. This allows the proposed architecture to present a more complete visualization of the structure and requirements of a retrofit, as previous architectures would only focus on smart monitoring of machine parameters. The architecture focuses on providing SMEs their first step towards a smart factory and as such, it is simpler in nature compared to the average architecture. It does, however, enable space on its implementation to be further expanded upon, as it presents a base that can be expanded into more complex and advanced IoT systems.

The proposed architecture, through the introduction of a comprehensive taxonomy, makes a differentiation between different types of sensing and control modules that are possible in introduce in a legacy machine through retrofitting, and how they differ from one another by presenting the general functional composition of each and the context in which each should be applied. As not all sensing and control components are equal, this differentiation should enable manufacturers to obtain a more clear and comprehensive understanding of smart retrofitting and the different elements involved in its process.

Industry 4.0 learning platform

To address the existing misconceptions and further alleviate the knowledge gaps about Industry 4.0, as well as showcase the proposed architecture, a I4.0 teaching platform is constructed. While in the respective project multiple physical demonstrations, denominated Vignettes, were constructed, only the Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) Vignette is presented. This Vignette's presented IoT system was designed around the smart retrofit architecture presented on this thesis, which allowed for an easier selection of sensing module components as well as the design of the system as a whole, culminating on a small scale IoT system intended to show the potential of these technologies as well as the value of the retrofit architecture through one possible implementation of it. Through the constructed Vignette, both manufacturers and students can obtain a better understanding of what is involved in an IIoT platform, and the potential capabilities these enable. For manufacturers, this demonstration allows them to start thinking more clearly about IIoT applications and how they can obtain value from them by applying these technologies to their own systems and environments, even for smaller use cases. It also aims to dispel the misconception that IoT applications present high complexity and economic entry barriers that only advanced companies can get access to, as this is no longer the case thanks to nowadays technologies being considerably more accessible than their predecessors, as well as the existence of alternatives that are not high cost "enterprise" platforms and software. For students, these demonstrations allow them to expand their understanding of Industry 4.0 technologies, bringing awareness on career opportunities within this field. By directly engaging with the practical applications of these technologies, students can envision potential job roles that leverage Industry 4.0 advancements, which they may not have previously considered. The Vignettes presented on this thesis hope to then generate a double-sided effect on Industry 4.0 careers. On one side, as manufacturers start

seeing the value of Industry 4.0 technologies, they may begin requiring capable engineers knowledgeable in the works and implementation of these technologies. At the same time, by raising students' awareness on these career opportunities, more are likely to follow a career path that would ultimately make them experts in Industry 4.0 and its technologies. It is hoped that the Vignettes constructed may be ultimately generating both I4.0 jobs from the side of manufacturers giving future engineers a higher range of career options, while at the same time generating more I4.0-able engineers capable of fulfilling the needs of these manufacturers, allowing them to remain competitive in the industry.

The entire design and construction process of the teaching platform was presented in detail, hoping that it would serve as an example for researchers who intend to create their own physical demonstrations. By presenting the entire design process, as well as the reasoning behind modifications between iterations, this thesis intends to give a better understanding of the considerations to be aware of at the moment of designing an Industry 4.0 demonstration piece, as well as the potential reception of these by different audiences.

Future work

As for the next steps, it is left as future work the proper implementation of the proposed architecture on a legacy machine. A complete implementation should be carried out, attempting to use all different types of the modules proposed, with the intention to fully validate the structure definition of each module as well as quantifying the difficulty and value that each brings through their implementation. In order to carry out a proper validation, the search for a legacy device or machine that would allow the implementation of all modules is required. As such, the equipment to be retrofitted should be able to provide information about some of its attributes for Adaptative and Replacement sensing modules to be implemented, while still leaving opportunities for new parameters to be monitored through Independent and Intrusive modules. The selected machine should also enable the control of its parameters in such a way that all forms of control modules can be implemented.

A specific and comprehensive methodology should also be defined for the presented architecture, which should describe the entire process on how a manufacturer would carry out its implementation, including pre-implementation steps such as design, economic considerations and problem definition, all the way to pos-implementation validation.

Regarding the learning platform, the first step of the GA-AIM project revolved mainly around the exposure of Industry 4.0 technologies. As the developed Vignettes focused more on presenting the general idea of what each technology entails as well as bringing awareness to their potential value through limited time interactions that focus more on expositions, it was not put much emphasis on a more long-term direct use of these physical demos by their respective audience. This is not to say the Vignettes do not fulfill their purpose, as they were mostly intended to be used as presentation pieces to a relatively large number of viewers at a time, or through quick overview sessions that would occur on the GA-AIM trailer where these Vignettes would travel the state. As such, the audience would not be able to deeply interact with each demonstration piece. The next stage of the project, and second version of the Vignettes, should then focus on this missing interaction, which would enable a deeper understanding of each technology through a more hands-on experience of them.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] "ME-JC-24 high speed cracker." Accessed: Nov. 05, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://me-equip.com/jc-cracker.html#/
- [2] "ZimaBoard," Zima Store Online. Accessed: Oct. 24, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://shop.zimaboard.com/products/zimaboard-single-board-server
- R. L. Wichmann, B. Eisenbart, and K. Gericke, "The Direction of Industry: A Literature Review on Industry 4.0," *Proceedings of the Design Society: International Conference on Engineering Design*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 2129–2138, 2019, doi: 10.1017/DSI.2019.219.
- [4] T. Masood and P. Sonntag, "Industry 4.0: Adoption challenges and benefits for SMEs,"
 Comput Ind, vol. 121, p. 103261, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.COMPIND.2020.103261.
- [5] M. Ghobakhloo, "Industry 4.0, digitization, and opportunities for sustainability," *J Clean Prod*, vol. 252, p. 119869, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2019.119869.
- [6] H. Kagermann, W.-D. Lukas, and W. Wahlster, "Industrie 4.0: Mit dem Internet der Dinge auf dem Weg zur 4. industriellen Revolution," *VDI nachrichten*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 2–3, 2011.
- [7] Y. Lu, "Industry 4.0: A survey on technologies, applications and open research issues," J Ind Inf Integr, vol. 6, pp. 1–10, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jii.2017.04.005.
- [8] A. Alqoud, D. Schaefer, and J. Milisavljevic-Syed, "Industry 4.0: a systematic review of legacy manufacturing system digital retrofitting," *Manuf Rev (Les Ulis)*, vol. 9, p. 32, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.1051/mfreview/2022031.

- [9] J. D. Contreras Pérez, R. E. Cano Buitrón, and J. I. García Melo, "Methodology for the Retrofitting of Manufacturing Resources for Migration of SME Towards Industry 4.0," *Communications in Computer and Information Science*, vol. 942, pp. 337–351, 2018, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-01535-0_25/TABLES/1.
- [10] D. Tantscher and B. Mayer, "Digital Retrofitting of legacy machines: A holistic procedure model for industrial companies," *CIRP J Manuf Sci Technol*, vol. 36, pp. 35–44, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2021.10.011.
- [11] I. Pietrangeli, G. Mazzuto, F. E. Ciarapica, and M. Bevilacqua, "Smart Retrofit: An Innovative and Sustainable Solution," *Machines*, vol. 11, no. 5, p. 523, May 2023, doi: 10.3390/machines11050523.
- [12] M. Zambetti, M. A. Khan, R. Pinto, and T. Wuest, "Enabling servitization by retrofitting legacy equipment for Industry 4.0 applications: benefits and barriers for OEMs," *Procedia Manuf*, vol. 48, pp. 1047–1053, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2020.05.144.
- [13] D. Sanchez-Londono, G. Barbieri, and L. Fumagalli, "Smart retrofitting in maintenance: a systematic literature review," *J Intell Manuf*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 1–19, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.1007/S10845-022-02002-2/FIGURES/9.
- P. Adolphs *et al.*, "Reference architecture model industrie 4.0 (rami4.0)," ZVEI and VDI, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 4–9, 2015, Accessed: Oct. 10, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.zvei.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Presse_und_Medien/Publikationen/2016/janu ar/GMA_Status_Report_Reference_Architecture_Model_Industrie_4.0_RAMI_4.0_/G MA-Status-Report-RAMI-40-July-2015.pdf

- [15] G. Hawkridge *et al.*, "Monitoring on a shoestring: Low cost solutions for digital manufacturing," *Annu Rev Control*, vol. 51, pp. 374–391, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.arcontrol.2021.04.007.
- [16] H. Jónasdóttir, K. Dhanani, K. McRae, and J. Mehnen, "Upgrading Legacy Equipment to Industry 4.0 Through a Cyber-Physical Interface," in *IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology*, vol. 536, Springer New York LLC, 2018, pp. 3–10. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-99707-0_1.
- [17] F. Lima, A. A. Massote, and R. F. Maia, "IoT Energy Retrofit and the Connection of Legacy Machines Inside the Industry 4.0 Concept," in *IECON 2019 - 45th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, IEEE, Oct. 2019, pp. 5499–5504. doi: 10.1109/IECON.2019.8927799.
- [18] M. Pueo, J. Santolaria, R. Acero, and J. Sierra-Pérez, "Design methodology for production systems retrofit in SMEs," *Int J Prod Res*, vol. 58, no. 14, pp. 4306–4324, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1080/00207543.2019.1651460.
- [19] J. I. García, R. E. Cano, and J. D. Contreras, "Digital retrofit: A first step toward the adoption of Industry 4.0 to the manufacturing systems of small and medium-sized enterprises," *Proc Inst Mech Eng B J Eng Manuf*, vol. 234, no. 8, pp. 1156–1169, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1177/0954405420904852.
- [20] F. Di Carlo, G. Mazzuto, M. Bevilacqua, and F. E. Ciarapica, "Retrofitting a Process Plant in an Industry 4.0 Perspective for Improving Safety and Maintenance Performance," *Sustainability 2021, Vol. 13, Page 646*, vol. 13, no. 2, p. 646, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.3390/SU13020646.

- [21] D. Etz, H. Brantner, and W. Kastner, "Smart Manufacturing Retrofit for Brownfield Systems," *Procedia Manuf*, vol. 42, pp. 327–332, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2020.02.085.
- [22] A. Dietrich, R. Van de Sand, and J. Reiff-Stephan, "Implementation of a Machine Tool Retrofit System," *TH Wildau Engineering and Natural Sciences Proceedings*, vol. 1, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.52825/thwildauensp.v1i.19.
- [23] R. G. Lins, B. Guerreiro, R. Schmitt, J. Sun, M. Corazzim, and F. R. Silva, "A novel methodology for retrofitting CNC machines based on the context of industry 4.0," 2017 IEEE International Symposium on Systems Engineering, ISSE 2017 Proceedings, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1109/SYSENG.2017.8088293.
- [24] T. Lins and R. A. R. Oliveira, "Cyber-physical production systems retrofitting in context of industry 4.0," *Comput Ind Eng*, vol. 139, p. 106193, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.CIE.2019.106193.
- [25] F. A. R. S. Duque, L. F. Goulart, A. A. Silva, and C. A. C. Cesar, "Incremental IoT for industrial maintenance using the legacy culture," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 618–626, Sep. 2023, doi: 10.1002/sys.21680.
- [26] N. S. Nowacki, K.-C. Ritter, A. Luder, and A.-K. Behnert, "Changing a running system: A guideline for retrofitting brownfield manufacturing systems," in 2021 26th IEEE International Conference on Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation (ETFA), IEEE, Sep. 2021, pp. 1–4. doi: 10.1109/ETFA45728.2021.9613198.
- [27] M. A. O. Pessoa, M. A. Pisching, L. Yao, F. Junqueira, P. E. Miyagi, and B. Benatallah,"Industry 4.0, How to Integrate Legacy Devices: A Cloud IoT Approach," in *IECON 2018*

- 44th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, IEEE, Oct. 2018, pp. 2902–2907. doi: 10.1109/IECON.2018.8592774.

- [28] R. D. S. Mendonça, M. M. De Carvalho, G. S. Machado, C. S. M. Da Silva, R. L. P. De Medeiros, and V. F. De Lucena, "Development of a Novel Methodology to Retrofit Legacy Systems in the Context of Industry 4.0," *IEEE Access*, vol. 11, pp. 123223–123235, 2023, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3328537.
- [29] M. Fett, S. Macko, F. Wilking, S. Goetz, S. Wartzack, and E. Kirchner, "Retrofitting Digital Twins of Existing Systems," in 2024 IEEE International Symposium on Systems Engineering (ISSE), IEEE, Oct. 2024, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1109/ISSE63315.2024.10741101.
- [30] F. Di Carlo *et al.*, "A process plant retrofitting framework in Industry 4.0 perspective," *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 67–72, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.IFACOL.2021.08.007.
- [31] M. A. García-Garza *et al.*, "A Case about the Upgrade of Manufacturing Equipment for Insertion into an Industry 4.0 Environment," *Sensors 2019, Vol. 19, Page 3304*, vol. 19, no. 15, p. 3304, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.3390/S19153304.
- [32] F. Biesinger, D. Meike, B. Kraß, and M. Weyrich, "A digital twin for production planning based on cyber-physical systems: A Case Study for a Cyber-Physical System-Based Creation of a Digital Twin," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 79, pp. 355–360, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.PROCIR.2019.02.087.
- [33] L. L. Ferreira *et al.*, "A pilot for proactive maintenance in industry 4.0," *IEEE International Workshop on Factory Communication Systems - Proceedings, WFCS*, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1109/WFCS.2017.7991952.

- [34] R. Langmann and L. F. Rojas-Pena, "A PLC as an industry 4.0 component," *Proceedings* of 2016 13th International Conference on Remote Engineering and Virtual Instrumentation, REV 2016, pp. 10–15, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.1109/REV.2016.7444433.
- [35] M. Kostolani, J. Murin, and S. Kozak, "An effective industrial control approach," *Proceedings of the 2019 Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, FedCSIS 2019*, pp. 911–914, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.15439/2019F187.
- [36] R. Y. Zhong, L. Wang, and X. Xu, "An IoT-enabled Real-time Machine Status Monitoring Approach for Cloud Manufacturing," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 63, pp. 709–714, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/J.PROCIR.2017.03.349.
- [37] K. A. Nsiah, M. Schappacher, C. Rathfelder, A. Sikora, and V. Groza, "An open-source toolkit for retrofit industry 4.0 sensing and monitoring applications," *I2MTC 2018 2018 IEEE International Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference: Discovering New Horizons in Instrumentation and Measurement, Proceedings*, pp. 1–6, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1109/I2MTC.2018.8409633.
- [38] C. R. Kancharla *et al.*, "Augmented Reality Based Machine Monitoring for Legacy Machines: A retrofitting use case," 2021 30th International Scientific Conference Electronics, ET 2021 - Proceedings, Sep. 2021, doi: 10.1109/ET52713.2021.9579936.
- [39] F. Bosi *et al.*, "Cloud-enabled Smart Data Collection in Shop Floor Environments for Industry 4.0," *IEEE International Workshop on Factory Communication Systems -Proceedings, WFCS*, vol. 2019-May, May 2019, doi: 10.1109/WFCS.2019.8757952.
- [40] B. Rupprecht, E. Trunzer, S. Konig, and B. Vogel-Heuser, "Concepts for Retrofitting Industrial Programmable Logic Controllers for Industrie 4.0 Scenarios," *Proceedings of*

the IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology, vol. 2021-March, pp. 1034–1041, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1109/ICIT46573.2021.9453558.

- [41] B. V. Guerreiro, R. G. Lins, J. Sun, and R. Schmitt, "Definition of smart retrofitting: First steps for a company to deploy aspects of industry 4.0," *Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 0, pp. 161–170, 2018, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-68619-6_16/FIGURES/5.
- [42] Y. C. Fan and J. Y. J. Chang, "Embedded smart box for legacy machines to approach to I
 4.0 in smart manufacturing," *MATEC Web of Conferences*, vol. 185, p. 00027, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1051/MATECCONF/201818500027.
- [43] S. Kannoth, F. Schnicke, and P. O. Antonino, "Enabling Industry 4.0 Communication Protocol Interoperability: An OPC UA Case Study," *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*, May 2021, doi: 10.1145/3459960.3459977.
- [44] D. Schulz, "FDI and the Industrial Internet of Things: Protection of Investment for Industrie 4.0," *IEEE International Conference on Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation, ETFA*, vol. 2015-October, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1109/ETFA.2015.7301513.
- [45] F. Orellana and R. Torres, "From legacy-based factories to smart factories level 2 according to the industry 4.0," *Int J Comput Integr Manuf*, vol. 32, no. 4–5, pp. 441–451, May 2019, doi: 10.1080/0951192X.2019.1609702.
- [46] C. L. Niemeyer, I. Gehrke, K. Müller, D. Küsters, and T. Gries, "Getting Small Medium Enterprises started on Industry 4.0 using retrofitting solutions," *Procedia Manuf*, vol. 45, pp. 208–214, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2020.04.096.
- [47] H. Haskamp, F. Orth, J. Wermann, and A. W. Colombo, "Implementing an OPC UA interface for legacy PLC-based automation systems using the Azure cloud: An ICPS-

architecture with a retrofitted RFID system," *Proceedings - 2018 IEEE Industrial Cyber-Physical Systems, ICPS 2018*, pp. 115–121, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1109/ICPHYS.2018.8387646.

- [48] T. Lins, R. A. R. Oliveira, L. H. A. Correia, and J. S. Silva, "Industry 4.0 retrofitting," *Brazilian Symposium on Computing System Engineering, SBESC*, vol. 2018-November, pp. 8–15, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1109/SBESC.2018.00011.
- [49] K. Xing, X. Liu, Z. Liu, J. R. R. Mayer, and S. Achiche, "Low-Cost Precision Monitoring System of Machine Tools for SMEs," *Proceedia CIRP*, vol. 96, pp. 347–352, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.PROCIR.2021.01.098.
- [50] D. H. Arjoni *et al.*, "Manufacture equipment retrofit to allow usage in the industry 4.0,"
 Proceedings 2017 2nd International Conference on Cybernetics, Robotics and Control, CRC 2017, vol. 2018-January, pp. 155–161, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1109/CRC.2017.46.
- [51] T. Stock and G. Seliger, "Opportunities of Sustainable Manufacturing in Industry 4.0,"
 Procedia CIRP, vol. 40, pp. 536–541, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1016/J.PROCIR.2016.01.129.
- [52] S. K. Panda, L. Wisniewski, M. Ehrlich, M. Majumder, and J. Jasperneite, "Plug Play Retrofitting Approach for Data Integration to the Cloud," *IEEE International Workshop on Factory Communication Systems - Proceedings, WFCS*, vol. 2020-April, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1109/WFCS47810.2020.9114523.

 [53] B. E. Medina and L. T. Manera, "Retrofit of air conditioning systems through an Wireless Sensor and Actuator Network: An IoT-based application for smart buildings," *Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 14th International Conference on Networking, Sensing and Control, ICNSC 2017*, pp. 49–53, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1109/ICNSC.2017.8000066.

- [54] A. Ferreira, K. M. Arif, S. Dirven, and J. Potgieter, "Retrofitment, open-sourcing, and characterisation of a legacy fused deposition modelling system," *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 90, no. 9–12, pp. 3357–3367, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1007/S00170-016-9665-2/METRICS.
- [55] S. S. V. Keshav Kolla, D. M. Lourenço, A. A. Kumar, and P. Plapper, "Retrofitting of legacy machines in the context of Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT)," *Procedia Comput Sci*, vol. 200, pp. 62–70, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2022.01.205.
- [56] J. Herwan, S. Kano, O. Ryabov, H. Sawada, N. Kasashima, and T. Misaka, "Retrofitting old CNC turning with an accelerometer at a remote location towards Industry 4.0," *Manuf Lett*, vol. 21, pp. 56–59, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.MFGLET.2019.08.001.
- [57] S. S. Hassan Al-Maeeni, C. Kuhnhen, B. Engel, and M. Schiller, "Smart retrofitting of machine tools in the context of industry 4.0," *Proceedia CIRP*, vol. 88, pp. 369–374, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.PROCIR.2020.05.064.
- [58] J. Vachalek, L. Bartalsky, O. Rovny, D. Sismisova, M. Morhac, and M. Loksik, "The digital twin of an industrial production line within the industry 4.0 concept," in 2017 21st International Conference on Process Control (PC), IEEE, Jun. 2017, pp. 258–262. doi: 10.1109/PC.2017.7976223.
- [59] P. Ferrari *et al.*, "Turning old into new: Adding LoRaWAN connectivity to PLC in brownfield installations," 2021 IEEE International Workshop on Metrology for Industry 4.0 and IoT, MetroInd 4.0 and IoT 2021 - Proceedings, pp. 665–670, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1109/METROIND4.0IOT51437.2021.9488564.
- [60] Y. Zhang and J. Beetz, "Building-CPS: Cyber-Physical System for Building Environment Monitoring," in *CIB W78*, 2021. Accessed: Nov. 15, 2024. [Online]. Available:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/355456670_Building-CPS_Cyber-Physical_System_for_Building_Environment_Monitoring

- [61] D. Sanchez-Londono, G. Barbieri, and K. Garces, "XWare: a Middleware for Smart Retrofitting in Maintenance," *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, vol. 55, no. 19, pp. 109–114, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.IFACOL.2022.09.192.
- [62] B. J. Ralph, M. Sorger, K. Hartl, A. Schwarz-Gsaxner, F. Messner, and M. Stockinger,
 "Transformation of a rolling mill aggregate to a cyber physical production system: from sensor retrofitting to machine learning," *J Intell Manuf*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 493–518, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1007/S10845-021-01856-2/FIGURES/43.
- [63] MaddenKyle, ColemanSonya, KerrDermot, and QuinnJustin, "Retrofitting manufacturing efficiency: low-cost electrical current monitoring for industrial machinery," *IET Conference Proceedings*, 2024, doi: 10.1049/ICP.2024.3482.
- [64] T. Kaarlela, T. Niemi, T. Pitkäaho, and J. Harjula, "Retrofitting enables sustainability, Industry 4.0 connectivity, and improved usability," *Advances in Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering*, vol. 9, p. 100146, Nov. 2024, doi: 10.1016/J.AIME.2024.100146.
- [65] F. Jamil, T. Y. Pang, and C. T. Cheng, "Developing an I4.0 Cyber-Physical System to Enhance Efficiency and Competitiveness in Manufacturing," *Applied Sciences 2023, Vol. 13, Page 9333*, vol. 13, no. 16, p. 9333, Aug. 2023, doi: 10.3390/APP13169333.
- [66] Á. García, A. Bregon, and M. A. Martínez-Prieto, "A non-intrusive Industry 4.0 retrofitting approach for collaborative maintenance in traditional manufacturing," *Comput Ind Eng*, vol. 164, p. 107896, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.CIE.2021.107896.

 [67] M. Q. Tran, H. T. Tran, and V. C. Pham, "Computer Vision System for Reading Analog Gauges at Power Substation," *Proceedings - 2021 International Symposium on Electrical and Electronics Engineering, ISEE 2021*, pp. 160–165, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1109/ISEE51682.2021.9418754.